I. INTRODUCTION 

This is an industrial insurance case. It concerns the so

called firefighter's statute, RCW 51.32.185. At relevant times, 

Respondent Bradley was a firefighter for the City of Olympia. 

CP 333-335. At relevant times, he was diagnosed with bladder 

cancer. CP 40/8-21. 

Armed with RCW 51.32.185, Mr. Bradley filed an 

industrial insurance claim, alleging his firefighting activities 

presumptively caused his bladder cancer. CP 19/7-11. The 

Department of Labor and Industries denied his claim. He then 

appealed to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals (BIIA) 

and, after a evidentiary hearing, the BIIA affirmed the 

Department's order. CP 5-20. Mr. Bradley then filed an appeal 

in Superior Court, requesting a jury trial. In superior court, he 

eventually filed a motion for summary judgment. CP 1205-

1266. The superior court granted that motion, essentially ruling 

that the City could not rebut the presumption ( 1) through 

epidemiologic evidence that firefighting is not a risk factor for 



bladder cancer and/or (2) through clinical evidence that 

firefighting did not cause Mr. Bradley's bladder cancer. CP 

1301-02; RP 23/13-25; 24-26/1-13. The City then appealed 

that ruling to the Court of Appeals, which affirmed the ruling of 

the trial court. 

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

The petitioner is the City of Olympia. It seeks review of 

the opinion published by Division II of the Court of Appeals. 

Ill. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION 

The Court of Appeals Division II filed its published 

opinion on November 9, 2021. A copy of the opinion is 

attached as Appendix A-1 to A-19. 

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

A. Assignment of Error 

Did the Court of Appeals err when it ruled as matter of 

law that the City of Olympia could not rebut the presumption of 

RCW 52.32.185 by proffering epidemiologic and clinical 
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evidence that firefighting activities are not risk factors for or do 

not cause bladder cancer? 

B. Issues Pertaining to the Assignment of Error 

1. Can the presumption of RCW 51.32.185 be rebutted 

through epidemiologic and/or clinical evidence that firefighting 

activities are not risk factors for and do not cause bladder 

cancer? 

2. If so, does the City also need to identify a specific or 

nonspecific nonoccupational cause of Mr. Bradley's bladder 

cancer? 

3. If the answer to 2 is in the affirmative in that the City 

needs to identify a nonspecific nonoccupational cause of Mr. 

Bradley's bladder cancer, what is the definition of a nonspecific 

nonoccupational cause of a disease viz., Mr. Bradley's bladder 

cancer? 

4. If the answer to 2 is in the affinnative, did the City 

present sufficient evidence to create an issue of fact that Mr. 
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Bradley's bladder cancer was caused by nonoccupational risk 

factors? 

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Court of Appeals Division H's recitation of the facts 

and procedure is generally accurate. Op. at 2-6. Even so, 

certain points bear emphasis. 

As witnesses, Mr. Bradley presented himself; a co

worker, Ken Carson; and a medical expert, a Dr. Kenneth 

Coleman, a former part-time emergency room and family 

medicine physician and presently an attorney. CP 469/16; 

4 70/ 12-18 & 21-25. He has no expertise in diagnosing or 

treating bladder cancer. CP 473/4-7. Dr. Coleman opined that 

Mr. Bradley's firefighting activities caused his bladder cancer. 

CP 458/10-25. Dr. Coleman also testified that exposure to 

second hand smoke can cause bladder cancer. CP 501/14-17. 

Mr. Bradley testified that until he was nineteen, he lived with 

his parents, both of whom were heavy smokers. CP 397 /9-20; 

398/1 . 
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The City presented three medical experts: Dr. Bill 

Vanasupa, a Board certified urologist and Mr. Bradley's 

treating physician; Dr. Erik Torgerson, a Board certified 

urologist and medical director for urologic services for Swedish 

Health System; and Dr. Noel Weiss, a highly regarded 

professor of epidemiology at the University of Washington. CP 

37/4; 38/5-8; 39/16-21; 40/11-12 & 21; 216/25; 217/1 & 15-18; 

218/16; 220/2-25; 221/1-21; 119/2-3 & 8-9; 140/10-14. Each 

testified that firefighting activities were not a risk factor for 

bladder cancer and that Mr. Bradley's firefighting activities 

more probably than not did not cause his bladder cancer. 

CP46/11-25; 47/1-13; 229/9-16; 253/3-4; 140/17-25. Ors. 

Vanasupa and Torgerson based their opinions on clinical 

experience and epidemiologic studies. CP 253/3-4; 47/5-7. 

Dr. Weiss based his opinion on the universe of relevant 

epidemiologic studies. CP 140/17-25. He surveyed the 

scientific literature on the risk of bladder cancer from 

firefighting activities. CP 121-123. He himself had authored 
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epidemiological studies on the relationship between firefighting 

activities and bladder cancer. CP 120-121. From that survey, 

he identified five critical studies: 

( 1) LeMasters, et. al. Cancer Risk Among Firefighters: A 

Review and Meta-Analysis of32 Studies (2006). CP 122/9-13; 

(2) The IARC Working Group's Review and Update of 

LeMasters' Meta-Analysis in the IARC Monograph No. 98 

entitled the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans with 

specific reference to firefighters (2010). CP 122/18-23; 

(3) R. D. Daniels, et. al. Mortality and Cancer Incidence 

in a Pooled Cohort of U.S. Firefighters from San Francisco, 

Chicago & Philadelphia (1950-2009) (NIH 2014). CP 122/24-

25; 123/1-3; 

( 4) R. D. Daniels, et. al. Exposure-Response 

Relationships for Select Cancer and Non-Cancer Health 

Outcomes in a Cohort of U.S. Firefighters from San Francisco, 

Chicago & Philadelphia ( 1950-2009) (NIH 2015). CP 123/13-

18; and 
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( 5) Silverman & Koutros, et. al. Bladder Cancer in Thun 

(ed.) CANCER EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PREVENTION (OUP 

2017). CP 123/19-23; 150/14-25. 

These studies presented a massive amount of data for 

thousands of firefighters over decades of firefighting exposures. 

From these data, the conclusion was drawn by the researchers 

and by Dr. Weiss that firefighting activities are unlikely to 

cause bladder cancer. CP 140/17-25. 

VI. WHY THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT 
REVIEW 

A. Qualification for Review Under RAP 13 

The City of Olympia requests that this Court grant 

discretionary review under RAP 13.4 First, under RAP 

13.4(b)(l), the decision of the Court of Appeals in Bradley v. 

City of Olympia, 2021 Wash. App. LEXIS 2632 (2021) 

conflicts with this Court's decision in Spivey v. City of 

Bellevue, 187 Wn.2d 716, 389 P.3d 504 (2017) and with RCW 

51.32.185 itself. It also conflicts with the decision in Division I 
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of the Court of Appeals in City of Bellevue v. Raum, 171 Wn. 

App. 124, 286 P .3d 695 (2012). Unlike Spivey, Raum and 

RCW 51.32.185, Bradley limits the kind of evidence that the 

employer can proffer to rebut the presumption. It prohibits the 

introduction of evidence rebutting "general causation." 

Second, under RAP 13.4(b)(4), the Court of Appeals' 

decision involves an issue of substantial public interest that this 

Court should determine. 

Third, under RAP 13 .4(b )(3 ), the Court of Appeals' 

decision raises significant question of law under the U.S. 

Constitution. 

B. Rebutting the RCW 51.32.185 Presumption 

1. Introduction 

Under RCW 51.32.185, the presumption is substantive in 

that it remains in the case as a substitute for evidence. Spivey, 

187 Wn.2d at 732-35; M. Morgan, Some Observations 

Concerning Presumptions, 44 HARV. L. REV. 906, 906-27 

( 1931 ). That much is granted. But Division II of the Court of 
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Appeals has taken this presumption one step further-one step 

too far: It has ruled that the presumption is conclusive, that 

firefighting activities cause bladder cancer. 

The Court of Appeals' decision will legally prevent 

employers from rebutting the presumption. That is, because of 

Bradley, the presumption is now effectively irrebuttable. In 

the Court of Appeals' words, "RCW 51.32. I 85(1 )(a) 1s 

designed to foreclose the argument that firefighting activities 

cannot cause bladder cancer." Bradley, 2021 Wash. App. 

LEXIS at 12 & 16. 

RCW 51.32.185 1 provides in relevant part: 

( l )(a) In the case of firefighters * * *, there 
shall exist a prima facie presumption that: 
*** (c) cancer; *** [is an] occupational 
disease[s] under RCW 51.08.140. 

*** 
* * * This presumption of occupational 
disease may be rebutted by a preponderance 

1 Mr. Bradley filed his claim with the Department in 2017. 
So the version of RCW 51 .32.185 that applies here is that 
enacted in 2007. ENGROSSED SUBSTITUTE HOUSE BILL 
1833 Chapter 490, Laws of 2007 (partial veto) effective date: 
07/22/07. 
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of the evidence. Such evidence may include, 
but is not limited to, use of tobacco 
products, physical fitness and weight, 
lifestyle, hereditary factors, and exposure 
from other employment or nonemployment 
activities. 
*** 
3 *** The presumption within subsection 
(l)(c) of this section shall only apply to*** 
bladder cancer * * *. 

2. Definition of Key Terms 

That the presumption is now held to be irrebuttable follows 

logically and legally from an analysis of how causation is 

proved in presumption cases. Analysis of causation in toxic 

exposure cases proceeds by partitioning the concept of 

causation into its two constituents: "general causation" and 

"specific causation." E.g., Raynor v. Merrell Pharmaceuticals, 

Inc., 104 F.3d 1371, 1376 (D.C. Cir. 1997) (discussing the 

distinction between general and specific causation); Casey v. 

Ohio Medical Products, 877 F. Supp. 1380 (N.D. Cal. 1995) 

("the term causation has two meanings ... , the first is general 

causation ... , the second is specific causation .... "); City of 

IO 



Littleton v. Indus. Claim Appeals Office, 2016 CO 25, 370 P.3d 

157, 160 (2016). 

"General causation" is that the purported exposure (viz., 

firefighting activities) causes ( or is a statistically significant risk 

factor) for the disease (viz., bladder cancer) in the relevant or 

exposed population. Assessing "general causation" is through 

well-designed population (or epidemiologic) studies. For 

instance, if in the relevant exposed population, the risk of 

developing the disease is no greater than it is in the general 

population, the exposure is not a risk factor for the disease. 

That would be a scientific fact. 

"Specific causation" is that, if general causation is proven, 

the particular exposure (viz., Bradley's firefighting activities) 

caused this particular worker's disease (viz., Bradley's bladder 

cancer). 

3. General Causation 

3.1 Limits on Rebuttal Evidence. Division II of the Court 

of Appeals has held that as a matter of law general causation is 

11 



conclusively presumed under RCW 51.32.185. Bradley, 2021 

Wash. App. LEXIS at 2-3 & 14. That is, it held that RCW 

51.32.185 mandates that firefighting activities cause bladder 

cancer in firefighters. In the Court of Appeals words, " ... an 

employer cannot rebut the presumption with evidence that there 

is no association between firefighting and the disease at issue." 

Bradley, 2021 Wash. App. LEXIS at 14. That means that in 

proceedings at the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals, 

where the record is created, the employer cannot introduce into 

evidence scientific studies that contradict the presumption of 

general causation. Under the holding of Bradley, such rebuttal 

evidence would be irrelevant. 

For better guidance on this issue, see City of Littleton v. 

Indus. Claim Appeals Office, 2016 CO. 25, 370 P.3d 157, 160 

(2016). There the appellate court held that, in a statute similar 

to Washington's RCW 51.32.185, general causation is 

rebuttable. Indeed, under the City of Littleton, the employer can 
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rebut the presumption by disproving general or specific 

causation.2 

2 This Court has referred to Cunningham v. City of 
Manchester Fire Dep 't, 129 N.H. 232,525 A.2d 714 (1987) 
regarding the Morgan theory of presumptions. Cunningham is 
not a good analogy for interpreting Washington law. In 
Cunningham, the appellate court held that the employer could 
not rebut the Morgan presumption by disproving general 
causation. In essence, general causation is irrebuttable. The 
court further held that the employer need not have to prove the 
specific cause of the worker's disease, but it does have to 
provide evidence of non-occupational co-risk factors for the 
disease from which a reasonable trier of fact could conclude 
that the worker's disease was more probably than not caused by 
one or more of those non-occupational risk factors. 
Cunningham, 129 N.H. at 238. 

The court identifies a test for legal (viz., proximate) 
causation in heart disease cases. New Hampshire Supply Co. v. 
Steinberg, 119 N.H. 223, 230-31, 433 A.2d 1247 (1979). This 
test does not appear to track Washington's conception of 
proximate cause. New Hampshire has a "substantial factor" test 
for proximate cause. Id. Washington does not recognize such a 
test of proximate cause. Hurwitz v. Dep 't of Labor & Indus., 3 8 
Wn.2d 332, 334-35, 229 P.2d 505 (1951); Brashear v. Puget 
Sound Power & Light Co., 100 Wn.2d 204, 207, 667 P.2d 78 
(l 983); Bremerton v. Shreeve, 55 Wn. App. at 339-40. 
Washington appellate courts should discern the intent of the 
statute from its language, not from decisions interpreting 
dissimilar statutes or common law. Simpson Logging Co., 32 
Wn.2d at 479. 

Moreover, the New Hampshire court's line of reasoning is 
illogical. As a fact of general causation, firefighting activities 
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3.2 RCW 51.32.185. Nowhere in RCW 51.32.185 does it 

provide that the kinds of evidence the employer can proffer to 

rebut the presumption are limited to disproving specific 

causation. RCW 51.32.185 provides: 

This presumption of occupational disease 
may be rebutted by a preponderance of the 
evidence. Such evidence may include, but is 

are presumed to cause heart disease. This presumption does 
not disappear; it is continuing; it is read to the jury. Yet the 
employer cannot disprove that causative factor. But it can 
introduce into evidence, as a matter of general causation, co
risk factors for heart disease and establish that these co-risk 
factors apply to the claimant without specifying whether any 
one of them in fact caused his heart disease. If it did so, the fire 
fighter's heart disease would have at least two causes-the 
presumed work-related cause and the proffered non-work 
related cause. If the jury decides to find for the employer, it 
must disregard the work-related Morgan presumed cause, which 
has not been disproved. But unless it speculated, why would it 
disregard the presumed cause? Because the employer cannot 
proffer evidence challenging the scientific basis of the 
presumed cause, the jury has no idea of the nature or dimension 
of the presumed cause. Is that presumed cause ill-founded, 
weakly founded, strongly founded? The jury has no clue. That 
is, it does not know whether the association between 
firefighting and heart disease is statistically significant or 
merely due to random chance or, if statistically significant, 
whether it satisfies any of the Bradford-Hill criteria for 
assessing causation. See CP 138/18-25; 139-140/1-3. 

14 



not limited to, use of tobacco products, 
physical fitness and weight, lifestyle, 
hereditary factors, and exposure from other 
employment or nonemployment activities. 
[Emphasis supplied.] 

On its face, the statute does not limit the kind of evidence 

that can rebut the presumption. Division II of the Court of 

Appeals in Bradley has rewritten the statute. 

4. Specific Causation 

Division II of the Court of Appeals apparently believes 

that a defense expert can conduct a differential diagnosis as to 

an alternate cause of Bradley's bladder cancer without being 

able to rule out that firefighting activities cause bladder cancer. 

No expert can do that. In the context of RCW 51.32.185, an 

employer cannot disprove specific causation without disproving 

general causation. Every assessment of specific causation has, 

as a predicate, a finding on general causation. See City of 

Littleton v. Indus. Claim Appeals Office, 2012 COA 187, 412 

P.3d 440, 456 (2012) (Carparelli, J., dissenting); Norris v. 

Baxter Healthcare Corp., 397 F.3d 878, 881 (10th Cir. 2005) 
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("[W]ithout general causation, there can be no specific 

causation."). 

4.1 Firefighting Activities Caused Bradley's Bladder 

Cancer. As a matter of "specific causation," the Court of 

Appeal's decision legally establishes that Bradley's firefighting 

activities caused his bladder cancer. That is, admittedly, 

Bradley was a firefighter. Admittedly, he has bladder cancer. 

By virtue of the Court of Appeal's decision, as a matter of law, 

it is conclusively presumed under RCW 51.32.185 that 

firefighting activities cause bladder cancer. Therefore, it 

follows that Bradley's bladder cancer was caused at least in part 

by his firefighting activities. No factfinder could logically 

reach a different conclusion, as discussed below. 

4.2 Alternate Cause of Bradley 's Bladder Cancer. The 

Court of Appeals said that for the employer to rebut specific 

causation, the employer must prove that Bradley's bladder 
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cancer was the result of an alternate nonoccupational3 cause of 

bladder cancer. Bradley, 2021 Wash. App. LEXIS at 17. That 

proof entails proof of general causation as to the alternate 

nonoccupational cause of bladder cancer. It also entails- very 

importantly- that the alternate cause be either the sole cause or 

a unique cause of his bladder cancer. 

That latter requirement is mandated by Washington's law 

of proximate cause. WPI 155.06.03; Bremerton v. Shreeve, 55 

Wn. App. 334, 339-40, 777 P.2d 568 (l 989)(Div. II); Wendt v. 

Dep't of Labor & Indus., 18 Wn. App. 674, 683-84, 571 P.2d 

229 (l 977)(Div. II). Under that law, there may be more than 

one proximate cause of the occupational disease. So if the 

employer merely proved that Bradley's bladder cancer had 

another or alternate cause, it could not overcome the 

presumption as to specific causation. This is so because 

3 Technically, the alternate cause could be occupational as 
long as it does not arise from the firefighter's occupation with 
the subject employer against whom the firefighter has filed his 
industrial insurance claim. See RCW 51.32.185( I). 

17 



Bradley's bladder cancer could have two or more proximate 

causes. Moreover, no factfinder could conclude that there is an 

alternate cause of Bradley's bladder cancer that is an 

intervening independent and sufficient cause without first 

disproving the presumption that firefighting activities cause 

bladder cancer. 

So an expert who testifies that Bradley's bladder cancer 

was caused by secondhand smoke is saying by entailment ( l) 

that, as a matter of general causation, secondhand smoke causes 

bladder cancer and (2) that, given proof of ( 1 ), secondhand 

smoke is, as a matter of specific causation, ~ cause (not 

necessarily the sole cause) of Bradley's bladder cancer. 

4.3 The Alternate Cause is the Sole Cause of Bladder 

Cancer. If the expert also says that it is the sole cause or a 

unique cause4 of his bladder cancer, the expert is saying by 

4 A "unique" cause of a disease is a cause scientifically 
established, as a matter of general causation, as the only cause 
of that disease. Division II of the Court of Appeals has 
essentially held that as to the diseases identified in RCW 
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entailment that he has ruled out firefighting activities as a 

specific cause of his bladder cancer. To rule out firefighting 

activities as a specific cause of Bradley's bladder cancer, the 

expert would need to establish that, as a matter of general 

causation, firefighting activities are not a cause of ( or risk factor 

for) bladder cancer.5 But under the Court of Appeal's Bradley 

decision, the expert is foreclosed from doing that. This is so 

because, as a matter of general causation, firefighting activities 

are conclusively presumed to cause ( or be a risk factor for) 

bladder cancer. 

Division II of the Court of Appeals effectively ruled that to 

overcome the presumption, the employer must establish a 

51.32.185(1) & (3), the Legislature has determined (I) that 
none has a unique nonoccupational cause and (2) that each is 
conclusively presumed, as a matter of general causation, to be 
caused by firefighting activities. Bradley, 2021 Wash. App. 
LEXIS at 14 & 16. 

5 The expert could claim that the claimant is not a firefighter 
or that he/she does not have the required disease. But those 
conditions are predicates to application of RCW 51.32.185 and 
so are defenses designed to skirt the presumption not to 
overcome the presumption. 
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unique nonoccupational cause of the disease. Yet, at the same 

time, it has held that the Legislature has conclusively 

determined that each of the diseases identified in the statute has 

no unique cause, that is, that each is caused by firefighting 

activities-even if, as a matter of scientific fact (general 

causation), "there is no association between firefighting 

activities and the disease in question." Bradley, 2021 Wash. 

App. LEXIS at 14. That is absurd.

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