FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/6/2022 3:29 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1004460

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF OLYMPIA,

Appellant,

V.

STEPHEN T. BRADLEY AND THE WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ron Meyers WSBA No. 13169 Matthew Johnson WSBA No. 27976 Tim Friedman WSBA No. 37983 Attorneys for Appellant

Ron Meyers & Associates, PLLC 8765 Tallon Ln. NE, Suite A Olympia, WA 98516 (360) 459-5600

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

IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. Introduction.

The City ignored the statute and the case law and hinged its defense around a rejection of the statute – a defense that even had the Board state: "[T]he preponderance of the evidence was **NOT** persuasive that Bradley's bladder cancer arose naturally and proximately out of exposure from other unknown activities, exposures and or his genetic makeup." (i.e. non occupational factors). [emph added]. *CP 18:43 - CP 19:3; CP 5.* The City did not appeal the Board's order.

The City cannot prove by a preponderance of evidence that Bradley's bladder cancer was caused by non-occupational factors. It fails to rebut the presumption because rebutting the presumption requires proof of causation by non-occupational factors.

This is consistent with:

- (1) The Spivey Rule; See Rule No. 8 below;
- (2) The *Gorre* Rules in the Appellate Court's written opinion, that if the cause cannot be identified or if there is no known association between the disease and firefighting then the firefighter maintains the presumption. *See*

Rules No. 10 and 11 below;

(3) The presumptive disease statute itself, which gives several examples of rebuttal evidence – and although not an exhaustive list, the rebuttable factors in RCW 51.32.185 all have one commonality: they are all identifiable non-occupational factors. *See RCW 51.32.185(1)(d)*. Disagreeing with the presumption is not an identifiable, non-occupational factor.

The Supreme Court, as a general rule, reviews summary judgment orders de novo and engages in the same analysis as the trial court. *Borton & Sons, Inc. v. Burbank Properties, LLC*, 196 Wn.2d 199, 205, 471 P.3d 871, (2020). The Appellate Court followed the statute and this Court's decision in *Spivey, id.*

B. There is no basis for Supreme Court review of this case.

RCW 51.32.185 and the case law interpreting RCW 51.32.185 all point to one conclusion: The government does not rebut the presumption by rejecting the presumption. The rules for analyzing and applying the presumptive disease statute are best road-mapped as follows:

Rule No. 1: Bradley's bladder cancer is presumed by law (RCW 51.32.185) to be occupational. See RCW 51.32.185.

Rule No. 2: Because Bradley's bladder cancer is presumed by

RCW 51.32.185 to be occupational, the burden shifts to the City to rebut the presumption by a preponderance of the evidence. *See* RCW 51.32.185(1)(d).

Rule No. 3: The presumption in RCW 51.32.185 shifts both the burden of production and persuasion to the City. *Spivey, id.*, at 728.

Rule No. 4: "[R]CW 51.32.185 reflects a strong social policy, and thus we must accord it the strength intended by our legislature. The presumption does not vanish on the production of contrary evidence; it shifts both the burden of production and persuasion to the employer." *Spivey, id.*, at 731.

Rule No. 5: "We [the Washington State Supreme Court] note that RCW 51.32.185 reflects a strong social policy in favor of the worker [...]". *Spivey, id., at 721.*

Rule No. 6: "RCW 51.32.185 reflects the legislature's intent to relieve a firefighter of unique problems of proving that firefighting caused his or her disease." [bold added]. *Spivey, id.,* at 741–42.

Rule No. 7: The burden of proof to rebut the presumption is not met by merely rejecting the presumption. In *Spivey*, the Supreme Court pointed out that New Hampshire has an analogous firefighter statute. *id.*, at 733. In that vein, the Supreme Court proceeded to discuss the New Hampshire Supreme Court's opinion in *Cunningham*, 129 N.H. at 235, 525 A.2d 714,

and, referring to the NH Supreme Court, stated:

The court reviewed the statute's legislative history and determined that its apparent purpose was to implement a social policy of providing compensation to firefighters in circumstances where medical evidence fails to establish the definitive cause of the plaintiff's heart disease. *id.*, at 733.

In *Spivey*, the Supreme Court also noted that, "New Hampshire and other courts have also noted that analogous presumptions serve the purpose of relieving firefighters of the "nearly impossible burden of proving firefighting actually caused their disease."" [citation omitted]. *id.*, at 734.

In *Spivey, id.*, the Supreme Court concluded that, "[t]he apparent purpose of adding melanoma to the list of covered diseases was to compensate firefighters even in circumstances when there may not be strong medical or scientific evidence establishing a definitive causal relationship between firefighting and the disease." *id.*, at 735.

Here, Dr. Weiss admitted that "Our knowledge right now is quite incomplete, compared to what we hope it might be in the future." And "There are many risk factors which we have not identified."

The burden to rebut the presumption is not met merely by presenting witnesses to reject the presumption. The City must prove what non-occupational factor, in general, caused the disease. This leads to Rule No. 8 - the *Spivey* Rule.

Rule No. 8 (the *Spivey* Rule): The standard for rebutting the presumption "[r]equires that the employer provide evidence from which a reasonable trier of fact could conclude that the firefighter's disease was, more probably than not, caused by nonoccupational factors." [Bold added]. *Spivey, id, at 735.*

In the *Spivey* Rule, the Supreme Court did **not** couch the City's burden as having to prove "[firefighting] **did not cause [the disease]**". [Bold added]. Instead, the burden is on the City to prove that "[the disease is] **caused by nonoccupational factors**". [bold added]. *Spivey, id., at 735*.

Rule No. 9 (the *Gorre*, Rule): If the cause of the disease cannot be identified by a preponderance of the evidence, the firefighter maintains the presumption. *See Gorre*, *id.*, at 758.

Rule No. 10 (the other Gorre Rule): Evidence that there is no known association between the disease and firefighting fails to rebut the presumption. See Gorre, id., at 758.

The burden of rebutting the presumption was analyzed by the Appellate Court in *Gorre*, *id*, with the understanding that Gorre sought reversal in part due to the City's evidence failing to rebut the presumption. Analysis of the burden of rebutting the presumption was an essential part of the Appellate Court's written decision in *Gorre*, *id*. The *Gorre* Rules are not

dictum.

The Supreme Court in *Gorre* focused entirely on whether Lieutenant Gorre's disease (coccidioidomycosis) was a presumptive disease under RCW 51.32.185 and ultimately concluded that his disease did not apply to RCW 51.32.185. *id.*, *at 34*. The Supreme Court had no need to and did not analyze the issue of the burden of proof to rebut the presumption.

Because the Appellate Court in *Gorre* determined that Lieutenant Gorre's disease was a RCW 51.32.185 presumptive disease, it analyzed the statute with respect to the burden of rebutting the presumption. The Appellate Court in *Gorre* gave specific rules about what evidence does **not** rebut the presumption (referred herein as the *Gorre* Rules), and nowhere does the Supreme Court reject or overturn those rules.

The *Spivey* Rule (Rule No. 8 above) works with, not against, the *Gorre* Rules.

Consider the first *Gorre* Rule, which is if the cause of the disease cannot be identified by a preponderance of the evidence, the firefighter maintains the presumption. This is consistent with the *Spivey Rule*, because where, as here, the City cannot identify the cause, it cannot prove what non-occupational factor, in general, caused Bradley's disease.

Consider the second *Gorre* Rule, which is that evidence that there is no known association between the disease and firefighting fails to rebut the

presumption. This is consistent with the *Spivey Rule*, because presenting witnesses who reject the presumption does nothing to prove what non-occupational factor, in general, caused Bradley's disease.

B1. Speculation does not rebut the presumption.

The City claims that it proved that firefighting activities do not cause bladder cancer, but the City relies on speculation to reach that conclusion. Here is why: Dr. Weiss was the City's "causation" expert. He admitted:

- 1. He does not know all of the causes of bladder cancer; CP 180:3-6.
- 2. That in **any** given sample of 100 cases of bladder cancer, he cannot know **all of the causes** of that bladder cancer **in any** of those 100 people. *CP* 180 and 162, respectively.
- 3. That the knowledge, with respect to the causes of cancer, are evolving over time, and that there are "many [risk factors] which we haven't identified." *CP 163:15-17; 163:20*.
 - 4. All carcinogens have not yet been identified. CP 163:23-25.
- 5. "There are not data, among the firefighter studies, that address different types of exposures, in relation to cancers." *CP 180:15-17*.

It is speculation to claim that Bradley's exposure to carcinogens, smoke, fumes and toxic substances over years working for the City as a firefighter is not a cause, given these admissions.

There is a second layer of speculation within the City's argument.

Here is why: Bradley's bladder cancer has one or more causes. If Bradley's exposures as a firefighter did not cause his cancer, and because the City's supposed three "conceivable" causes did not cause Bradley's cancer, then it is **speculation** to claim that the cause is non-occupational – because the cause is unknown.

Rule No. 11: Speculation does not rebut the presumption. Where (as here) firefighting is presumed a cause of Bradley's bladder cancer, and where (as here) all causes of bladder cancer are unknown, it is speculation to claim that firefighting is not a cause.

Rule no. 12: "Importantly, speculation and conclusory statements will not preclude summary judgment." *Volk v. DeMeerleer*, 187 Wash. 2d 241, 277, 386 P.3d 254, 273 (2016). "The concern about speculative testimony is that the trier of fact will be forced to speculate as to causation without an adequate factual basis." *Id*.

"As this Court has stated, "it is well established that conclusory or speculative expert opinions lacking an adequate foundation will not be admitted." "In addition, when ruling on somewhat speculative testimony, the court should keep in mind the danger that the jury may be overly impressed with a witness possessing the aura of an expert."" [footnote/citations omitted]. *Miller v. Likins*, 109 Wn. App. 140, 148, 34 P.3d 835 (2001).

B2. There is no conflict with Raum v. City of Bellevue.

The City claims that the Appellate Court's opinion conflicts with Raum v. City of Bellevue, 171 Wn. App. 124, 286 P.3d 695, 710 (2012), and argues that in Raum, the city rebutted the presumption by disproving "general causation." That is objectively incorrect. Firefighter Raum lost his case, despite the presumption, because of the "concrete medical testimony that specific factors other than employment" caused his coronary artery disease. This is an excerpt from the Appellate Court's holding in Raum, id:

And regardless of Raum's assertions regarding the medical literature, the City rebutted the presumption with concrete medical testimony that specific factors other than employment—including genetic predisposition, high blood pressure, and high cholesterol—caused Raum's coronary artery disease.

[Bold added]. Id., at 153. In *Raum*, the Appellate Court noted that:

- Dr. Thompson testified on a more probable than not basis that Raum's cardiovascular disease was related to high cholesterol and family history. *Id.*, at 154.
- Dr. Maidan testified that Raum was a young man with very early coronary artery disease caused by high cholesterol, high blood pressure, and family history. *Id*.
- Dr. Yang testified that more probably than not, a variety of non-employment-related factors contributed to his cardiovascular disease. *Id.*
- Dr. Kim specifically testified that Raum's high cholesterol and family

history contributed to his coronary artery disease. Id.

This case is not analogous to *Raum*, because here, the City's own experts admit that the three conceivable causes did even not apply to Bradley. The City simply claims that the legislature is wrong. Unable to rebut the presumption, the City now proceeds to use the Court to rewrite legislation.

Immediately before the *Spivey* Rule, the Supreme Court states that, "this standard does not impose on the employer a burden of providing the specific cause [...]". *id*. Here, the Supreme Court could have stated that the employer has no burden to "provide the cause" or no burden to "provide a cause" or no burden to "provide a [or the] cause in general" – but it did not. That would have weakened the burden placed on the City by the legislature in RCW 51.32.185.

Rather, the Supreme Court only relieved the City of having to prove the *specific* cause. Immediately after that statement, the Supreme Court issued its rule, using the phrase "caused by nonoccupational factors" (rather than the phrase "disease was not caused by firefighting"). *Spivey, id.,* at 735.

The Supreme Court's qualification (that the City need not provide the *specific* cause) is the *Intalco* rule, but for employers. In *Intalco Aluminum v.*Dep't of Labor & Indus., 66 Wash. App. 644, 833 P.2d 390 (1992), the Court of Appeals held that there is no requirement in the worker's compensation

statute that the claimant identify the *specific* toxic agent responsible for his disease or disability. *id*,. at 656.

Even though not required to prove the *specific* toxic agent that caused his or her disease, the non-firefighter worker (in a regular, non-presumptive worker's comp claim) still has the burden to prove that the disease arose from distinctive conditions of employment. *Intalco, id.* at 656.

In summary, in a regular (non RCW 51.32.185 presumptive) worker's compensation case, the worker need not identify the *specific* occupational agent that caused his disease, but he must still prove that his disease was caused by his occupation.

Similarly, in a RCW 51.32.185 presumptive disease case (where the burden is flipped onto the employer) although the City need not prove the *specific* non-occupational cause to rebut the presumption (e.g. the exact chemical or toxin), the City still must still prove by a preponderance of evidence that Bradley's bladder cancer was caused by (to use some of the examples in RCW 51.32.185(1)(d)) his lifestyle, or hereditary factors, or exposure from other employment or non employment activities – but in any case an actual non-occupational factor. There are none in this case.

The worker in *Intalco* had the burden of proving that his disease was occupational. The physicians could not identify the specific occupational

toxin that caused the worker's disease. *Intalco, id., at* 655. The Court of Appeals still ruled in the worker's favor. *id.,* at 647. The Court of Appeals noted that the physicians firmly concluded that "a toxin" (a non-specific factor) or "a combination of toxins" (a non-specific factor) present in the atmosphere of the Intalco pot room more probably than not caused the claimants' neurologic disease. *id.,* at 655.

The evidence in *Intalco* showed that the workers were exposed to known neurotoxins in the employer's pot room and that extensive investigations of the worker's medical and work histories revealed no other likely cause their disease. *id at 656*. In our case, the burden is flipped to the City, and the City has failed to show any relevant non-occupational exposure, either through Bradley's medical history, "other work" or otherwise.

RCW 51.32.185, *Raum*, *Gorre*, *Spivey* and now *Bradley* all work as a harmonious manual for the interpretation and application of the presumptive disease statute.

Because the City failed to show that any non-occupational factor caused Bradley's disease (even the Department admits this), the City claims that it has no such burden. The City argues a "general causation" theory. The legislature decided that bladder cancer was presumed to be an occupational disease. Presenting defense witnesses to reject that is nothing more than

attacking the legislature's policy decisions.

There is no **genuine** issue of fact that each of the supposed three "conceivable causes" have been proven not applicable to Bradley. The Court is left to speculate: Since the cause of Bradley's bladder cancer is not genetics, smoking or radiation, what is it? Speculation does not rebut the presumption.

Consider the City's epidemiologist's testimony: "There are many [risk factors] which we haven't identified. I'm not sure if we'd ever get to identifying them all, but it's developing." *CP 163:15-22*. "Our knowledge right now is quite incomplete, compared to what we hope it might be in the future." *CP 163:7-14*.

The City chose to ignore the case law and now seeks to use the Court to change the law.

C. There is no constitutional issue.

The City devoted one paragraph to its claim that there exists a Constitutional issue – making a fleeting reference to due process violations.

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